No.: 22-625

SCA EFiled: Oct 27 2022 SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA04:41PM EDT Transaction ID 68314465

DENISE ORSO, Petitioner,	
v.	Re: CIVIL ACTION NO.: CC-23-2020-22 Honorable Miki J. Thompson, Circuit Judge
THE CITY OF LOGAN, WEST VIRGINIA, a municipal corporation,	
Respondent.	

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Submitted by:

James M. Cagle (WV Bar No. 580) 1018 Kanawha Boulevard, East 1200 Boulevard Tower Charleston, West Virginia 25301 Email: caglelaw@aol.com Phone: (304)342-3174

Counsel for Petitioner Denise Orso

I.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a trip and fall that occurred on October 1, 2018 resulting in very serious injuries to Petitioner Denise Orso. The trip and fall occurred on a sidewalk located on Stratton Street in downtown Logan during the lunch hour at which time Mrs. Orso was taking her customary walk, A 35, 650. As Mrs. Orso described the fall in her deposition she was then approaching three women who were also walking, but in the opposite direction. Each moved over so as to pass one another. A wire with a loop "latched onto" Mrs. Orso's shoe, her right foot was caught in the loop, causing her to "hit the concrete", A 652-653, see photos 667-669. As the result of her injuries Mrs. Orso has undergone three surgeries and extensive therapy and rehabilitation as well as suffering residual problems and physical restrictions, A 650-666.

Mrs. Orso filed suit against the Respondent City of Logan under the authority granted in West Virginia Code, Chapter 17, Article 10, Section 17 asserting that a defective condition of the sidewalk existed which the City had negligently maintained. The City responded with a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Civil Rule 12(b)(6) arguing that the City had immunity under the West Virginia Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, West Virginia Code §29-12A-4. The City argued also that there were no facts in the pleading to the effect that the City had prior notice of the alleged hazard and that insufficient facts had been pled to avoid adverse consequences as the City interpreted were required under the open and obvious doctrine contained in West Virginia Code §55-7-28.

An Amended Complaint which added a second Defendant was noticed and subsequently filed A 131-136. The additional Defendant was the First Baptist Church of Logan, West

Virginia. The church was located on Stratton Street adjacent to the location where Mrs. Orso fell. The wire which tripped Mrs. Orso was loosely wrapped around a post which the church placed contiguous to the sidewalk. The wire was used to block parking in the church's parking lot on Stratton Street, see Exhibits A 107-112. A settlement was reached with Defendant First Baptist Church of Logan, West Virginia. Thereafter the Respondent City of Logan filed its Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that arguing that (1) the City owed no duty to Mrs. Orso because the City did not own the wire loop (2) the Logan City ordinances did not require a duty to maintain the sidewalk (3) that the City had no knowledge of the hazard thus they had no duty to warn of the danger (4) and the claim is barred under the open and obvious doctrine, A 163-177, 444-459. Petitioner Orso responded first that the City's duty and the basis for the City's liability is consistent with the Tort Claims Act under West Virginia Chapter 29, Article 12 A, Section 4(c)(3) and (5); second, that the City's ordinance upon which Respondent relies does not relieve the City from its statutory responsibilities involving sidewalks; third, the Respondent City incorrectly relies upon premises liability principles to support its motion for summary judgment; and fourth that West Virginia Code §§55-7-28 which reinstates the open and obvious doctrine does not require summary judgment in this case, that is particularly so in view of the fact that the City's erroneously relying upon principles of premises liability, A 637-647.

The Circuit Court granted summary judgment by order entered on June 27, 2022, A 8-28. The Order adopts all of the City's argument in their entirety.

¹The photographs in A 109, 110, 111 do not show the wire over which Mrs. Orso tripped. Rather, this view is after the changes made after the injury. The locations of the posts however are at the same spots as they were at the time of injury.

IV.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court reached erroneous conclusion about the applicable law. Further, the Circuit Court improperly used the open and obvious doctrine as contained in W.Va. Code §55-7-28 to make a determination of a genuine issued material fact.

V.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Because the Circuit Court relied upon principles of premises liability and reached a fact finding concerning a disputed material fact question Rule 19 applies pursuant to provisions 19(1) and (2).

VI.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

Orders awarding summary judgment are subject to a *de novo* review, *Gray v. Boyd*, 757 S.E. 2 773 (2014). Rule 56(c) of our Rules of Civil Procedure requires the moving party to establish that there is no genuine issue of any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Petitioner Orso addresses errors made below concerning both the legal and factual elements.

The Circuit Court Committed Errors about the Applicable Law in the Following Particulars.

i.

West Virginia Code §17-10-17 that provides the basis of liability when a municipality fails to maintain its streets and sidewalks in a reasonably safe condition for travel in ordinary modes, with ordinary care, whether by day or night when injury results therefrom. This is an exception to immunity under W.Va. Code §29-12A-4(c)(3).

Under the caption of "Immunity Overview" the Court below concludes that the Respondent City is immune from this lawsuit because the claims made by Mrs. Orso fail to present an exception to immunity under the provisions of West Virginia Code §29-12A-4. According to the Court's decision this grant of absolute immunity grows out of the specific language which is found in the West Virginia Tort Claims Act, Code §29-12A-4, A 13. However, the exception to immunity is contained in the Circuit Court's order itself in paragraph 15, in that this right to sue exists under 17-10-17 and that falls squarely within 29-12-A-4(c)(3). Subsection (c)(3) excepts liability for injury caused by the negligent failure to keep public sidewalks open, in repair.

"Except as provided in subsection (c) of this section, a political subdivision **is not liable in damages in a civil action for injury**, death or loss to persons or property allegedly caused by any act or omission of the political subdivision or an employee of the political subdivision in connection with a governmental or proprietary function," A 13-14.

The Order which is here being appealed is wrong on its face in the conclusion, A 14; paragraph 16 that there is no duty on the City's part. To the contrary, the duty is quite specific. The exception to immunity exists here as it is simply a matter of reading and then applying the

plain language found in 29-12A-4(c)(3). Negligence involving injury from failing to keep sidewalks in repair is an exception to immunity. The other aspects of this Respondent's "no duty" argument as fully adopted by the Circuit Court in its Order are addressed *infra*.

The evidence which raises a jury question and supports this claim is found in the deposition testimony of Logan Street Commissioner Kevin Marcum, A 580-604. In his deposition Mr. Marcum provided internally contradictory testimony. Mr. Marcum's job for more than a decade has been as Street Commissioner for Logan which includes Stratton Street which he testified is under the supervision of the State Department of Highways, A 585. In contradiction, the Mayor of Logan, the Code Enforcer/Fire Chief inspect these sidewalks "a lot," A 586, and Mr. Marcum has accompanied them on such inspections, A 588. "We're out on the streets everyday, Monday through Friday," as they have people sweeping the streets in the morning looking out for people's safety, A 588. That may also include meter readers, A 589. Further, the public record in the form of the Logan Banner newspaper dated April 27, 2018 (approximately 5 months before Mrs.Orso's fall) shows sidewalk repairs being done by the Respondent City of Logan which began April 25th on Stratton Street in front of the very Courthouse which is a mere block away from where Mrs. Orso fell on her walk, A 608-609. Mr. Marcum acknowledged his recollection of that repair job, funded in part by City money, A 592. In a 2019 article about Logan's acceptance into the home rule program the Mayor when speaking of the virtues of that program as relates to raising increased revenue mused about being able to answer, among other things, the often ask question of:

"Why don't you fix this sidewalk? What about these streets?" A 612.

The ownership of the subject wire loop is a red herring as Mrs. Orso tripped on a sidewalk which the City controlled.

It is an undisputed fact that Mrs. Orso tripped over a wire that was laying across the sidewalk, A 9 "the wire stretched out onto the sidewalk," Findings of Fact paragraph 5, A 596, testimony of Kevin Marcum, and A552 "a stretched out on the sidewalk," testimony of Mrs. Orso. It is settled law that parties may be jointly liable in this kind of case, Lewis v. City of Bluefield, 48 F.R.D. 435 (S.D. W.Va. 1969); Burdick v. City of Huntington, 57 S.E. 2d 885 (1950); Johnson v. City of Huntington, 95 S.E. 1044 (1918); and Bowen v. City of Huntington, 14 S.E. 217 (1891). The photos clearly show without controversy that the post which the wire loosely wrapped around was situated immediately adjacent to the pedestrian sidewalk. As further developed hereinafter when considering Logan City ordinances the City maintained control over the sidewalks, A 107. The fact of City control over sidewalks is likewise confirmed by the deposition testimony of Street Commissioner Kevin Marcum, A 585-592. In arriving at the conclusion that ownership and control of the wire loop is required for any liability to Mrs. Orso to exist the Court ignores the aforementioned evidence concerning control by the City of its sidewalks, A 15-16. Moreover, as addressed in arguments ii and iv the Court is wrong in treating this matter under principles of premises liability rather than negligence. Further, even if the case turns on whether the City "controls" the sidewalk as the Marcum testimony and City ordinances certainly indicate that question is one of fact for the jury to decide. In the instant case the Circuit Court has erroneously decided this fact as if it is one of law. For this reason also the award of summary judgment should be reversed.

The City ordinances upon which the Court relies do no support the conclusion that the City had no duty to pedestrians who walked on the sidewalk.

In its Order granting Summary Judgment the Court concludes that Logan's city ordinances absolve the City of any liability for negligence on the grounds that any duty to maintain had been transferred to owners of properties which abut or are adjacent to the sidewalks, A 18-22. The ordinances which the Order relies on are Sections 23-7.1 and 29. Those ordinances state the following:

"Sec. 23-7.1. Duty of property owner.

It shall be the duty of the owner of any real property abutting on or next adjacent to any sidewalk, footway or gutter, to lay and construct proper sidewalks, and to curb, recurb, pave or repair and constantly keep the same in good repair, clean condition and free from snow, ice, dirt or refuse (6-11-68)."

"Sec. 29. Duty of owner of abutting property with reference to sidewalks.

It shall be the duty of the owner of any real property abutting on or next adjacent to or on any sidewalk, footway, or gutter, to lay and construct proper sidewalks, and to curb, recurb, pave or repave, or repair, and keep the same in constant good and clean condition in the manner and within the time required by the council. And if any owner of any such real estate shall fail or refuse to lay and construct such sidewalks, and to do such curbing, recurbing, paving, repaving, or repairing, or to keep the same constantly in good condition and clean, in the manner and within the time required by the said council, it shall be the duty of the said county to cause the same to be done at the expense of the city, and to assess the amount of such expense against said property, and upon the owner thereof, and the amount so assessed against said property shall constitute a lien thereon and shall be collected by the city treasurer in the same manner and at the same time that city taxes on property assessed within the city are collected."

A careful reading of the above ordinances especially when read along with other ordinances contained in the Logan City Code indicate that these ordinances are intended to

address owner's obligations to repair or construct abutting sidewalks. However, in reality as previously described in the Kevin Marcum testimony the City maintains ultimate control over the sidewalks. The ordinances conclusively demonstrate that fact. Section 23-7.2 provides that it is the mayor's duty to report defective sidewalks to City Council, A 616. Council for its part under Section 23-7.3 then orders the adjacent owner "to lay, construct, reconstruct, replace, curb, recurb, pave, repave or repair such sidewalk as specified in the mayor's report," to be completed within 20 days. According to the City Code the procedure takes the form of a show cause order which, if not timely obeyed, can result not only in a hearing before Council but also having the work being done by the City which is followed by an assessment and lien, A 617. Perhaps even a lawsuit will be brought under Section 23-7.8, A 618.

The City Code provide for elaborate requirements, specifications and procedures involving sidewalks, see A 618-634. In fact City Code Section 23.-16 allows for removal of a sidewalk, or even removal of a portion of a sidewalk, if it is determined to be unsuitable and unfit by Logan's City Engineer, A 621. In reality and in practice Logan does "own" its sidewalk, if not by title but by its actual legal authority. This is most certainly a reflection of the amount of control of sidewalks. This reflects a case when words say one thing and the reality is something entirely different.

iv.

The Circuit Court's reliance upon principles of premises liability is misplaced.

The Court below concludes that the Respondent City is entitled to summary judgment because Mrs. Orso has failed to show that the City had any prior knowledge of the trip hazard

which existed on the sidewalk, in question, A 22-25. In this regard the City and the Court below relies as supporting authority this Court's decision in *Wheeling Park Com'm v. Dattoli*, 787 S.E. 2d 546 (2016). Such reliance its misplaced.

The key to understanding the Circuit Court's error here is found in paragraphs 29 and 30 in which the Court references its reliance on premises liability, A 22. See *Carrier v. City of Huntington*, 501 S.E. 2d 466 (W.Va. 1998) and *Wheeling Park Com'n v. Dattoli*, 787 S.E. 2d 546 (W.Va. 2016) in which this Court clarified its holding in *Carrier*.

In *Carrier* the Court held in no uncertain terms that the City of Huntington's liability was governed by W.Va. Code §17-10-17:

"When construing W.Va. Code §29-12-A-4(c)(3) or W.Va. Code §17-10-17 this Court *has never applied premises liability principles*," 501 S.E. 2d at 469. (Italics added).

When the appellees in *Dattoli* raised the foregoing holding in *Carrier* the Court did not reject or overrule *Carrier's* holding, rather the Court pointed out that while common negligent principles do apply, premises liability principles do not:

"When this Court opined in *Carrier* that ordinary premises liability principles do not apply to a claim brought under W.Va. Code §29-12A-4(c) we were referring to the fact that the law imposed different duties of care on possessors of premises with regard to whether a person on private property is an invitee, licensee, on tresspasser," 787 S.E. 2d at pp. 552-553. See also discussion in Watkins supra concerning consideration of negligence and jury determination of issues, and open and obvious argument.

In the case at bar, the Court relies upon premises liability cases, not the more common garden variety negligence actions and principles. The sole exception is *Dattoli* and in *Dattoli* was not suing a municipality governed by §17-10-17. Mrs. Orso here does not argue that there is no

requirement that she 1) establish a duty 2) a negligent breach of that duty, and 3) proximate causation of damages resulted therefrom. The Petitioner submits that the duty as previously identified exists, it was breached, and there are resulting damages therefrom in this case.

Moreover, particularly genuine issues of material fact about those issues of negligence and causation remain.

A careful reading of *Dattoli* reveals that nowhere in that decision is W.Va. Code §17-10-17 referenced with the sole exception being footnote 7 wherein the Court plainly emphasizes the differences between *Carrier* and *Dattoli*:

"... we decline to rule that imposing 'negligence' standard on local governments under W.Va. Code §17-10-17, permits this Court to apply common principles developed under premises liability."

In absolute disregard for this precedent the Circuit Court adopts premises liability principles by awarding summary judgment against Mrs. Orso.

The Court refers to and adopts as findings Mr. Marcum's testimony about being uninformed about the dangers of a wire loosely placed at the edge of a downtown walkway beside not one, but two churches and across from apartments, A 23-24. What the balance of the Street Commissioner's testimony demonstrates is that the City of Logan disregarded their duties involving sidewalks because as Mr. Marcum explained it the:

"Department of Highways owns Stratton Street and Main Street," and as regards the question of his duties for City sidewalks he has "None in that area. Property owners are in charge of sidewalks," A 23 paragraph 26.

. . . .

"it's always been the code." Depo. p. 12.

That testimony contradicts Marcum's other testimony about the fire chief and mayor, inspections and the ordinances as well. However, the "We have no responsibility" argument would allow adjacent landowners to put a wire across their portion of the sidewalk.

In summary, these conclusions by the Court below are flawed and should be rejected and reversed by this Court as unsupported by Court precedent.

v.

The Circuit Court improperly reached findings of disputed fact critical to any decision on the merits of the case.

The Circuit Court concludes its Order granting Summary Judgment with these conclusions:

- The Court finds that it is undisputed that Plaintiff saw the wire loop immediately before she fell but did not see the wire the first time she passed it during her walk, A 27, paragraph 37.
- The Court finds it is beyond genuine dispute that, had the Plaintiff looked she could have seen it earlier. . .. drawing all inferences favorable to the Plaintiff, the Court concludes the open and obvious doctrine bars her claim, Id. paragraph 38.

Parsing the above, the foregoing are fact findings, not law findings. Moreover, they are disputed and they are material to the outcome of the case. A look at what deposition testimony the Court relied on, A 26, indicates that Mrs. Orso *does not say* as the Court concludes that "it is undisputed that [Mrs. Orso] saw the wire loop." In fact the converse is true. She saw it only after her right foot was caught in the wire loop when she fell. It was then too late.

If fact findings such as this are permitted to be made by a Court under the auspices of W.Va. Code §55-7-28 a dangerous precedent will have been established. Here it is improper for the Court to infer as an undisputed fact that just because Mrs. Orso had passed the same spot

previously that she had actually noticed the wire loop or given it any thought at all-and in testimony she denied seeing it until it was wrapped around her right foot. It is highly improper under these disputed facts for a Court to deduce as an absolute disqualifying fact knowledge of something which the claimant denies that when such a finding renders a claimant negligent as a matter of law. But that is what the Order does.

This conclusion conflicts with Court precedent that specifically hold that the City can be held liable *even when they are without notice of a defect at the time of injury*, *Burcham v. City of Mullins*, 83 S.E. 2d 505 (W.Va. 1954); *Watkins v. City of Clarksburg*, 155 S.E. 2d 1 (W.Va. 1972). *Watkins* also holds that the pedestrian is not required to be looking down so long as she acts consistent with what an ordinary reasonable person would do. The City's liability occurs when, as is the case here, the City chooses to be negligently ignorant of the defect or simply saying that no responsibility exists. The negligence is one of omission, a disregard of responsibility.

VII.

CONCLUSION

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