IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA EST Transaction ID 68577053

DOCKET NO. 22-625

DENISE ORSO,

Petitioner,

v.

THE CITY OF LOGAN, WEST VIRGINIA, A municipal corporation,

Respondent.

(On Appeal From the Final Order of the Honorable Miki Thompson; Circuit Court of Logan County, West Virginia; Case No. 20-C-22)

Duane J. Ruggier II (WV State Bar No. 7787) Evan S. Olds (WV State Bar No. 12311) PULLIN, FOWLER, FLANAGAN, BROWN & POE, PLLC

901 Quarrier Street

Charleston, West Virginia 25301 Telephone: 304.340-0100

Facsimile: 304.342-1545

Email: druggier@pffwv.com/eolds@pffwv.com

Counsel for Logan County Board of Education

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

Petitioner has produced no evidence that the City of Logan had any notice, and the City does not own or control the wire loop. *Burdick*, *Watkins*, and *Lewis* involved repair issues with sidewalks owned and controlled by cities, including a hole in a sidewalk and uneven sidewalks; these cases were decided before West Virginia required that owners, including political subdivisions, must have actual or constructive knowledge of the condition causing injury to be liable; these cases were even decided before West Virginia adopted modified comparative fault in 1979. Here the Petitioner was not injured by an out of repair sidewalk, and the City did not have notice of the wire loop. Petitioner's case law does not support her claim and does not overcome the immunity to which the City is entitled under the Tort Claims Act.

As explained in § II *infra*, the City cannot be liable because it did not own the mechanism that caused injury. Under the Tort Claims Act, Petitioner's negligence claim failed, and the City is immune under the Tort Claims Act. Summary judgment was warranted.

a. PETITIONER DID NOT PRESERVE ITS ARGUMENT THAT W. VA. CODE § 17-10-17 OPERATES WITHIN W. VA. CODE § 29-12A-4

Besides misconstruing the Circuit Court's *Order*, Petitioner raises an argument she did not raise below. Petitioner did not argue below that W. Va. Code § 17-10-17 is an exception to W. Va. Code § 29-12A-4(c)(3). Rather, Petitioner argued that W. Va. Code § 17-10-17 applies and W. Va. Code 29-12A-4 does not apply.⁵²

Under West Virginia law, "[o]ur general rule is that nonjurisdictional questions not raised at the circuit court level, but raised for the first time on appeal, will not be considered." To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect." Although we liberally construe briefs

-

⁵² App. 639, 642–643.

⁵³ Skaff v. Pridemore, 200 W. Va. 700, 704, 490 S.E.2d 787, 791 (1997).

⁵⁴ Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W. Va. 208, 470 S.E.2d 162 (1996).

in determining issues presented for review, issues which are not raised, and those mentioned only in passing but are not supported with pertinent authority, are not considered on appeal."55

Here, Petitioner cannot raise an argument for the first time on appeal. Petitioner's first argument in her *Brief* needn't be considered by the Court.

II. THE CITY CANNOT BE LIABLE BECAUSE IT DID NOT OWN OR CONTROL THE WIRE

Addressing Petitioner's arguments in turn, Petitioner asserts that it is undisputed that the wire was "stretched out onto the sidewalk." To support this assertion, Petitioner first cites to the *Complaint*, then to Kevin Marcum's testimony, and finally to Petitioner's testimony. ⁵⁶ Petitioner's argument fails for multiple reasons.

First, Petitioner did not raise this argument below. Again, "[o]ur general rule . . . is that, when nonjurisdictional questions have not been decided at the trial court level and are then first raised before this Court, they will not be considered on appeal."⁵⁷ Nowhere in Petitioner's Response to City of Logan's Motion for Summary Judgment did Petitioner argue that it was undisputed that "the wire was stretched out onto the sidewalk." Because Petitioner did not raise it below, this Court should not consider it.

Second, the testimony and pleading Petitioner cites to are problematic under the summary judgment standard. Petitioner's reliance on her Complaint does not sustain her claim. Under Rule 56, "[w]hen a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the adverse party's pleading."58

⁵⁵ State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 302, 470 S.E.2d 613, 621 (1996).

⁵⁶ Pet'r Br. 6.

⁵⁷ Whitlow v. Bd. of Educ. of Kanawha Cnty., 190 W.Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993).

⁵⁸ W. Va. R. Civ. P. Rule 56(e); see syl. pt. 1, Butner v. Highlawn Mem'l Park Co., No. 21-0387, 2022 W. Va. LEXIS 708, at *2 (Nov. 17, 2022) ("unsworn and unverified documents are not of sufficient evidentiary quality to be given weight in a circuit court's determination of whether to grant a motion for summary judgment.").

Third, Mr. Marcum never testified that the wire was "stretched out on the sidewalk." App. 463–532. On the page of the deposition transcript Petitioner cites to, Petitioner's counsel questioned Mr. Marcum about a photo. Pet'r Br. 6; App. 596, Marcum Test., Dep. Tr. 57–58. Unfortunately for Petitioner, the photo was not attached to the transcript. In any event, Petitioner testified that the photos produced by Petitioner below do not depict the wire as it was on October 1, 2018.⁵⁹ As Petitioner avers in her Statement of the Case at footnote 1, the photos do not depict the wire as it was before Petitioner allegedly fell on October 1, 2018.⁶⁰ Petitioner has identified no photos showing the wire as it was on October 1, 2018, when the alleged fall occurred. Thus, Mr. Marcum's testimony about what some unidentified photo depicted does not establish that the wire was stretched out on the sidewalk before Petitioner fell as alleged.

Fourth, Petitioner cannot rely on her own uncorroborated testimony to sustain her claim.⁶¹ "[S]elf-serving assertions without factual support in the record will not defeat a motion for summary judgment."⁶² As discussed, Petitioner produces nothing but her own testimony to support that the wire was "stretched out on the sidewalk." Accordingly, Petitioner's argument is without merit. Even if the wire were stretched out on the sidewalk, the City cannot be liable for the wire when (1) the City does not own or control the wire, (2) the City had no notice of the wire or any danger posed by it, and (3) the wire was apparent, or more apparent, to Petitioner as it was to the City.

⁵⁹ App. 241–242, 574, 247–248, 575, 250, 576, 251, 577, 252, 578, Pet'r's Test. and exs., Dep. Tr. 61–62, 67–68, 70, 71, 72.

⁶⁰ App. 241–242, 574, 247–248, 575, 250, 576, 251, 577, 252, 578, Pet'r's Test. and exs., Dep. Tr. 61–62, 67–68, 70, 71, 72; *see* App. 521, Marcum Test., Dep. Tr. 59.

⁶¹ See Pet'r Br. 6 (citing App. 552, Pet'r's Test.).

⁶² Gomez v. A.C.R. Promotions, Inc., No. 21-0807, 2022 W. Va. LEXIS 660, at *5 (Oct. 26, 2022) (quoting Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 61 n.14, 459 S.E.2d 329, 338 n.14 (1995)).

Next, Petitioner makes another argument not asserted below: that "parties may be jointly liable in this kind of case." Petitioner did not raise this argument below. ⁶³ Because Petitioner did not raise this argument below, the Court need not consider it here. Also, the new argument distracts from and misses the point that the City cannot be liable for a mechanism (the wire) (1) the City did not own or control, (2) the City had no actual or constructive knowledge about, and (3) that was as or more apparent to Petitioner as it was to the City.

Petitioner next asserts that the ordinances establish the City's control over the sidewalks.

Contrary to Petitioner's argument, the ordinances state:

Sec. 23-7.1. Duty of property owner.

It shall be the duty of the owner of any real property abutting on or next adjacent to any sidewalk, footway or gutter, to lay and construct proper sidewalks, and to curb, recurb, pave, repave or repair, and constantly keep the same in good repair, clean condition and free from snow, ice, dirt or refuse. (6-11-68.)

.

Sec. 29. Duty of owner of abutting property with reference to sidewalks

It shall be the duty of the owner of any real property abutting on or next adjacent to or on any sidewalk, footway, or gutter, to lay and construct proper sidewalks, and to curb, recurb, pave, repave, or repair, and keep the same in constant good and clean condition in the manner and within the time required by the council. And if any owner of any such real estate shall fail or refuse to lay and construct such sidewalks, and to do such curbing, recurbing, paving, repaving, or repairing, or to keep the same constantly in good condition and clean, in the manner and within the time required by the said council, it shall be the duty of the said county to cause the same to be done at the expense of the city, and to assess the amount of such expense against said property, and upon the owner thereof, and the amount so assessed against said property shall constitute a lien thereon and shall be collected by the city treasurer in the same manner and at the same time that city taxes on property assessed within the city are collected.64

-

⁶³ App. 635–648.

⁶⁴ App. 352, 368. The City is authorized to enact these ordinances under W. Va. Code §§ 17-10-17 and 8-11-1.

Mr. Marcum testified consistent with the ordinances:

Q. All right. And what is your understanding, at least, as Street Commissioner, of your duties, if any, as with regard to sidewalks in the City of Logan?

A. None in that area. Property owners are in charge of sidewalks.

Q. Okay. In this case, if the property abutting that is the First Baptist Church, is it your belief that that's their duty?

A. Oh, it's definitely their duty. Even I own real estate in the town, and I own buildings and I have to -- you know, I've replaced my sidewalks whenever they've needed it, you know, so.

Q. And how long has that been the practice or the -- what I'll call the law -in Logan that the -

A. As far as I -- as long as I've known, it's always been the code.

Q. Okay. And is that the -- you rely on the City ordinance for that?

A. Yes, sir.⁶⁵

The ordinances and Mr. Marcum's testimony are not in dispute. "The mere contention that issues are disputable is not sufficient to preclude summary judgment." Petitioner's argument fails.

Petitioner's *Brief* does not account for the applicable law correctly recited by the Circuit Court.⁶⁷ Under West Virginia law, "[t]he bare fact of an injury standing alone, without supporting evidence, is not sufficient to justify an inference of negligence. The burden is on the plaintiff to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant was negligent and that such negligence was the proximate cause of the injury."⁶⁸ "No action for negligence will lie without a duty broken," and a duty cannot be broken if it's not owed.⁶⁹ The West Virginia Supreme Court

⁶⁵ App. 585, Marcum Test., Dep. Tr. 11–12; see App. 585–595.

⁶⁶ Conley v. Stollings, 223 W. Va. 762, 768, 679 S.E.2d 594, 600 (2009).

⁶⁷ App. 15.

⁶⁸ Walton v. Given, 158 W. Va. 897, 902, 215 S.E.2d 647, 651 (1975); See also Mrotek v. Coal River Canoe Livery, Ltd., 214 W. Va. 490, 492, 590 S.E.2d 683, 685 (2003).

⁶⁹ Parsley v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Corp., 280 S.E.2d 703, 706 (W. Va. 1981).

has held that "the determination of whether a plaintiff is owed a duty of care by a defendant must be rendered by the court as a matter of law."⁷⁰ In the premises liability context, if a defendant does not own or control the subject property causing injury, there can be no liability:

"[I]n cases dealing with premises liability we have generally adhered to the principle that liability results either from control of the subject area or from a specific wrongful act." *Durm v. Heck's Inc.*, 184 W. Va. 562, 565, 401 S.E.2d 908, 910 (1991). In other words, "liability should be assessed against the party having control of the premises." *Id.* at 565, 401 S.E.2d at 910. "[A] defendant [generally] cannot be held liable for a defective or dangerous condition of property which it does not own, possess or control[.]" *Andrick v. Town of Buckhannon*, 187 W. Va. 706, 710, 421 S.E.2d 247, 251 (1992), quoting *Southland Corp. v. Superior Court*, 203 Cal.App.3d 656, 664, 250 Cal.Rptr. 57, 61 (1988). *Accord Gover v. Mastic Beach Property Owners Association*, 57 A.D.3d 729, 869 N.Y.S.2d 593 (2008); *Contreras v. Anderson*, 59 Cal.App.4th 188, 69 Cal.Rptr.2d 69 (1997); 62 Am. Jur. 2d. Premises Liability § 4 (2005).⁷¹

The Circuit Court correctly reasoned and concluded as a matter of law that "a party owes no duty for any injury caused by a property condition he or she does not own or control."⁷²

Whether or not the City owned or controlled the sidewalk, the City cannot be liable for the wire because the City did not own the wire. The City does not own or control, and did not exert any ownership or control, over the subject wire loop. Mr. Kevin Marcum, the City's Steet Commissioner, testified:

Q. Does the City own that wire, to your knowledge?

A. No, sir

Q. Okay. Is that wire a part of the - of any City-owned property?

A. No, sir.⁷³

17

⁷⁰ Syl. pt. 5, in part, *Aikens v. Debow*, 208 W. Va. 486, 541 S.E.2d 576 (2000); syl. pt. 4, in part, *Conley v. Stollings*, 223 W. Va. 762, 764, 679 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2009).

⁷¹ Conley v. Stollings, 223 W. Va. 762, 766–67, 679 S.E.2d 594, 598–99 (2009) (emphasis added).

⁷² App. 15; Respondent's Reply, Supp. App. 671–675.

⁷³ App. 509, Marcum Test., Dep. Tr. 47.

It is undisputed that the Church owned and controlled the subject wire loop. The Church admits ownership, ⁷⁴ and the Petitioner posits the same:

> Q. All right. So you don't have any information that the City of Logan placed that wire there?

> A. I don't know who put that wire there. I would think that the church is the one that put the wire there.⁷⁵

That the Church owned and controlled the wire is not only admitted by and undisputed by the parties, but also, the Church's actions in removing the wire and replacing the same with a chain demonstrates the Church's ownership and control. The Circuit Court was correct in concluding that the City does not own or control the wire loop, and the City has never exerted any control over the wire loop. ⁷⁶ Only the Church has. Petitioner does not dispute that the City did not own the wire.⁷⁷ Therefore, the Court correctly concluded that the City cannot be liable for the Petitioner tripping over the Church's wire. Accordingly, Petitioner's negligence claim failed, and the City is entitled to immunity under the Tort Claims Act and summary judgment.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT, UNDER CITY ORDINANCES, THE CITY IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE

As block-quoted in the preceding section, under City ordinance section 23-7.1, "[i]t shall be the duty of the owner of any real property abutting on or next adjacent to any sidewalk . . . to . . . repair and constantly keep the same in good repair, clean condition and free from snow, ice, dirt or refuse."⁷⁸ Under section 29, similarly, it is the duty of a property owner to keep sidewalks adjacent to his or her property "in constant good and clean condition." Petitioner does not dispute

⁷⁴ App. 342–344, 346, Def. Church discovery responses.

⁷⁵ App. 246, Pet'r's Test., Dep. Tr. 66; *see* App. 236.

⁷⁶ See App. 511–512, 514, Marcum Test., Dep. Tr. 49–50, 52:19–22.

⁷⁷ See generally Pet'r Br.

⁷⁸ App. 93.

⁷⁹ App. 368.

the authority of the ordinances, ⁸⁰ but attempts to limit these sections to mean an owner must repair or construct abutting sidewalks. But the ordinances' plain language makes clear that property owners must not only construct or repair them, but also keep them in clean condition and free from refuse.

The ordinances put the onus of responsibility on abutting property owners to maintain sidewalks. The fact that Mr. Marcus, the Mayor, or meter readers walk the streets does not undo the import of said ordinances. Further, a newspaper article does not create an issue of fact.⁸¹ The Circuit Court correctly interpreted and applied the pertinent portions of said ordinances. Further, as discussed *infra*, under the open and obvious doctrine, the City did owe a duty to Petitioner, and the Circuit Court was correct for concluding as such.

Petitioner argues elsewhere in her *Brief* that the City's reliance on the ordinance amounts to a "disregard[]" of duty.⁸² Petitioner's allegation is tantamount to charging the City with negligence for adopting an ordinance. However, under the Tort Claims Act at § 29-12A-5(a), "[a] political subdivision is immune from liability is a loss or claim results from . . . [a]doption . . . [of an] ordinance."⁸³ This Court has described the immunities in W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a) as providing political subdivisions with "absolute immunity."⁸⁴ The Court has explained, "[t]o read into these

-

⁸⁰ Here, it appears Petitioner has abandoned her "home rule" argument raised below, as well as her argument that the ordinances evince some "purposeful" neglect of duty. *See* App. 640, 647. These arguments were addressed in the City's *Reply* below and in the Circuit Court's *Order*. App. 675–678, 18–22. Further, it appears Petitioner has abandoned her argument that the sidewalk was "out of repair" under W. Va. Code § 17-10-17. The Circuit Court's *Order* aptly addresses this argument. App. 16–18.

⁸¹ Pet'r Br. 5; see syl. pt. 6, Butner v. Highlawn Mem'l Park Co., No. 21-0387, 2022 W. Va. LEXIS 708 (Nov. 17, 2022).

⁸² See Pet'r Br. 10.

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